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Hazel Grant - 38 counts for Forgery

37 counis for causing money
be paid by false pretences

33 counts for causing a person
vo affix his name by false
pretences

2 counts (33 & J4) for causiny
a valuable secuxity to be
delivered by fulse pretences

Eldon Grant - 1 count (31) for Foryery
jointly with ilazel Grant

2 counts (32 & ¢3) for obtaininy
a valuable security by false
precences

1 count (34) for causing a
person co affix his name by false
piretences (jointly with hazel
Grant.)

L counu (65) for causing money
to be paid by false pretences
(Jjoincly with Hazel Girant).

By amendiment to the indictment orcdered by the Court after all
evidence had ween adduced (which occasioned much objeciion)
ilazel Grant was added cu two counts (32 & ¢3) which originally
chasged Eldon Geant alone wiil: obtaining a valuable secuvity
L by false pretences and Eldon Grant was added to two counts

{02 & v) which oriygyinally charged Hazel Grant alone with
Forgery (02) and (66) causing a person to affizx his name by
false pretences. The verdicis returned were as follows:-

1. o verdicts vere returned on tne 34 counts
charginyg Forgery

2 tiazel Grant:
Wot Guilty on counts 32, 44, 35
o Guilcey on 36 counts foi causing money to
(h; ‘be paid by false pretences;

on 3¢ counts for causing a person Lo
affix his name by false pretences

on two counts (32 & 63) for oblLaining a
valuable security by false pretences

2. Eldon Grant:
Hoee Guility on count 65

Guiliy on counts 32, 34, u3 & uwb.




Senconcans wero o an fob Taowvrn

Hazel Goancs

On each count except counts 32, 34, 63, oo,
imprisonment at hard labour fur three years
to run concurrently with each ocher. ©Cn
counts 32, 34, v3, o6 imprisonuent atv haid
labour for Lwoe years on each count to run
concurrencly with each other and consecu-
tiveiy to the sentences ¢f three years.

Blden Grancs:

on councs 22, 34, 63, 06 mprisonment atc

havd labour fors two years on eachr count to

run concurrently witch each ovhev.
The appellants are husband and wife and tChe charges

acsuse out cf icvegularities in the Scotia Plan Loans (The S5PL)

cr

at the Bank of Hova Scotia Sam Sharpe Lguare, Montego Bay,
vhere the wife vas che Loans Officer during the peiiod
19th Hovember, 13¢45, to 13th april, 1987, when the Bank was
efrauded of over ¢1.4 million dollars. $o agtutely veare
the affairs of the Depavtment conducted that duving the
period under ceview ziter cnecks by both local and foreign
nspecters she veceived commendations and a Special Award
for operating the number one deparitment in the Caviblean!
They had not uncovered any trace of what came to be repire-
sented in c¢his indicuasni as a massive {raud. This only
goes wo confivui the opinions of two of her colleagues Lthat
she was efficlent and meticulous.

The tr. el vecupied Lifteen trial days betveen
hay 24 and Deceni:er 238, 19388, and invoived the testimony of
thiviy-four witnesses.  In an apparent endeavour to
encompass che full range of craiminal activit.es envisaged
by tne diaftsman he included the 38 counts for forgery
which were pxesente&‘as alternatives to the 33 counts for
causinyg a persen co offix his nawe by false pretences.
However, despite surenuous cubmissicis by both sides on the

vaulidaty of ihese counts for foryery we do noct rvegacd it




Sy, .

'y

By

necessary Lo express any opinion on Lhese councs for the

simple reason tha. no verdicis were recorded on then and no
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subm ons were made with a view to the substitvution of

verdicts on these counts for the verdicis on the counis to
Whicy they are the alternative. We will, itherefore, say
Nothing further on the councs for forgery.

Trcre 1

Ll

also another aspect of chese appeals upon
whichlevull expend no {urther efforv., dHr. Phipps cited

sevef;} cases in support of his submissions on the provision
for Jméhgment in the Indicuiments Act, but after ilc, Small had

=y : b ; :. - . . .
responded 'Mr, Phipps announced that those poevi

iy

ione were no

. longer rel_evant and that those cases mey bLe relevant ia

ldcptifrlng_the Lype of amendisents which may be made. Bug,

H"

provisions Of Lhe_JudluaLu ‘e (Resident Magistrgtes) Act, wich

which ve are conderned
The case'agalnst Eldon CGrant was prasented on the
basis of common désiéh.}ilt will, thevefore, be necessary to
devermine wvheilier such a common desigyn iy diéclosed in the
evidence. The system obtaining in the orL Department warcvants
close aviencion in order to be able to decermine the alleged
manipulations by Hazel Grant.
Briefly stated, the contention of the prosecution:
.88 related by #r. Xent Pantry, Deputy Director of Public
Prosecutions, in cpening the case for the prcsecution was
that Hazel Grant,’in her capacity as Loans Ufficer for the
'Lperlod 1385-1987, prepaced several loan applications, twenty-
i'e of which weve on behalf of fictitious byrrowers. in
of these applications Manager's Cheques were
uzed to be prepared «nd these were signed by Hazel Granc
slghiing oflicess. Some ui these chegues were

sudsequently cashed at the Banx by Hazel Grant and some were

N
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paid for encashment elsewhere, Certain of these cheques

werc obtained by Eldon Grant which he paid over for his use

and benefil. The amendments o the indictment which were
(\‘ later grakted by tihe Court vwere sald to be necessary because

“he indigtment, as presence

"
o

did not fully aatch the evidence
vhich efpryed. 7The guesdtion of the amendments was very stoutly
achuied before as,

Ve peglin, then, with a cousideration of che systemn

in thy SPL Department as outlined by M. Richard Haughton-Janmes
who was then Senior Assistcant Hanager at the Bank. Applicants
for loans would attend upon the Loans Ufficec who weuld £111

in the application foria (Ex. i) reflecting the following
informaticn:

vate and address of applicanc,
date of birth, marital status,

spouvse’s name and address as
well as any previous address

of applicanc and spouse,;
odcupation anda scuployer of
upplicant as well as of spouse,
any liabilivies with any ocher
banlk, persocnal assets and
goneval liabilicies.
(h Fach loan application s numbered i1n a special register kKept
PE ! S )
for tihe purpose, Security for the loan weuld be entered on
che applscation foom whdceh the applicant would then sign.
The Luans CGfficer would then proceed Lo verity the znformation
gupplied on a Verificacion Fori (Ex. 2) provided for the
pucpose,
LI the awounc of tne loan 1s within the Loans
Gificer's limic then she would detevminie whether vihie loan
‘a vould be gupnied aiter ascercaining the applicant®s ability
to repay e loan. Wherse ithe amount exceeds her limit she
would present tie application form, toyecher with the
Verification Form, to the apprapriate officer. This officer
dees not deal with the applicant but with the documents

. X . - - . o
presented by the Loans Officer. Aftex appioval, the Loans
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Officer would write on the back of the application form the
name 1in which the chegue is to be drawi., “Theiveafteir, the Loans

Officer would cunplete a chegque requisition form anu in

e

4

]p accordance with the informatvion thereon a Manager’sz Chegua(s)

-

.

would be drawn. If che amount is within her limic she would
sign the chegue and nave 1t counter-signed by an authorised
cfficer - Assistant liunager, Operating Credit Officer, Senior

Assistant lianagoeyr,; or che Manager - who ags well as the Loans

Officer, would inicial the reguisition foim. The Loans Officer

would also initvial the back of the application form indicating

that the cneque nad becn izsued and cisbursed

“ o
The nexie stage is that the applicatcion form 1is
. I
phoiocopied and ithis photocopy 1s then chiecked by the auditor
i i ] i

te ensure titat it conteins everything on the original. The

Audicor would then initial the photocopy in red and the

<
original would chen be sent vo the Computer Cenbre ac Prenier

Plaza, Half Way Tree, vo be processed, UWithin about wwe days

the original applicetzon form would be returned together with

a card {the Loan inzformation Card) beaving che identvical

foinfegmation on the hApplication Foom. There are now three

representations of cie application form ~ che original, the

phiotocopy anu the Lean Infermation Card. The phctocopy is
filed away in a special place anu kept under the Auditor's
control until a certain time when 1t would be shredded. The
vriginal and the Loan informaticn Card are passed to the

Louans Oificer sho checks the accuracy of the Loan information

caid againstl che original. 4Whe original ig chien kept in the

U applicant's file 1n a Cabinet. The Loan Informalion Caxd is

nept in a tray auiring the day and leciked awey in a vault

by nighe,

£f Lhe loan i1s foo the purchase of & notor vehicle,

then other forns aie prepared -



re

-7~
(a) liotor Vehicle Apprailsal Form
(L) insurance Foim

{c) Hotor Vehicle iIndex Card

(d) Bill of Sale. .f

Generally, scecurity £or loans ave by nmeans of -~

(a) llocigage over real estate
(i) Cenventional Bill of Sale

{ci Promissory Note
(d) & lien on savings whoere the
porrower has a savings account
at the bank.
Vihen tne loan is in excess of the Loans Officer's
limit the approval is done by an oificer within whose limat
che amount falls, after he has scrutinized the forms presented
to nim by the Loans Officer. This senior person wvould not
normally sce tne applicant but would deteumine his ability to
repay the loan frown the informacion supplied., The Loans Offlcer
vhen proucures the preparavion of the chegue which she then
signs and presents te the avthorized person who signs the chegue

.

and inttialc the back of the application form as well as the
Reguisicion Form.

The appellanc ilazel Grant, as Loany Officer, had a
Limit of $40,5u% which was later increased tu $7v.00GC.

Accordingly, sihie would grant loang within those limits at the

rolevant times and no other officer would deal with the

applicants, Lt was only at the point where the cheques were o

Lo be counter-signed that a senior cifficer had anything to do

wiih applications which fell witchilin her compecence to approve, 1
Fer case of reference, 1t may be useful to set out,

at this point, the wwenty-five loans from which the chasges ot

acigse  giving the nanes of chie applicancs, the dates of the

applicacions, the amount and purpose of the loans as these appear

i the Open and Closced Register Book (Ex. 32), the Régister
]

in which the loan applications are nuwabereds-



Aston Wisdem

N

19.11.85

522,700

Adrian Blake - 28. 4.85 $55,000
Georyge Punhan - &, 5. 8o $40,000
é) vdward Salmon - 19, 6.4¢6 540,900
Sylvesiter Graham - 15. 7.38%6 $85,090
Cwell Rese -~ 17. 7.806 $465,000
Clive Lawrence - 24, 7.6% $0U: 200
Garch Williams - Y. 8. o8 $L0,0UU
Aiphansv lurray - 12. §.80 $4C,000 -~ Purcnase Carc
Devrvick Junes ~ 9, 9, &% $45,0U0 - Purchase Bus
Oswuld Dawkins - 22. %.U09 $30,000 -~ Purchase i1/Bus
ﬁ Anchony Harvey - 30. 9.8% -5128,000 - Purchase Cars
in Rental
krreol Murray - 9, 10.86 - $30,000 - Repair bLus
Devon 3cotl - 5., 1ii.3vu 532,000 - Impreve Home
Helton Morris - 20.,11.8% $97,500 - Purchase Bus
wdgar Saiod .- 11.12.806 $40,000 -~ Repair M/Bus
Lavid Grahamn - 1%.12.80 $39,000 - Purchase Cav
Dennis Halker - 17.12.30 $40,00C - Home Lnprove-
A menc
a Jonhn Dixoen - 22.12.869 $40,000 - Purchase Carc
Frederick Arnold - 7. 1. 87 565,000 ~ improve Home
Vincenue Haryis - 29, 1.87 $41,000 -~ Purchasce Car
Samuel Broewn ~ 24. 2.87 $45,500 - Purchase Car
Ogcar brigscut - 3. 3., 87 $56,000 ~ Purchase Car
Delberi uegry , - 19. 3.87 $70,000 - Purchase Car
Lgecton Gorden - B8, 4, 87 340,000 -~ Purchase <ar.
4 in kcepang wich the system ouclined carlier the

relevan. aocunicnts in' conneceion wich these loans were prepared
and distributed i.e. the pholtocopy loan Application Form,

the Original Application Form and the Loan Information Carxd.
For vecasons wiilch will appear later the Oviginal Applicatcion

Foims are not wvailable but from the ghotocopy and the Loan
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Iinformation Card 1t was ascertained tvhat the purpose of the
first eiyhe loans, which does not appear in the Open and

Cloged Heyiscer, wvas as follows:-

Aston Wisdom -~  Repair Twuck
Adrian bLakey - Repair Yruck
Guorgce Dunham -  Repais Busg

Bdward Salmon -  Purchasc Hini Dus

Sylvestoer Graham -~ Puirchuse Bus

Cwen Rose ~  Purchase ini Bus
Clive Lavraenca - Purchase Dus
Gaertil Williams -  Purchase Casi.

GL che tuenty-Live loans, therefore, three were for
aonme lmpeovencnt and twenty-two wese either for the purchase
o repalr of moior vehicles. One may be forgiven for thinking
that the possession of a title is 4 pre-requisice vo obtaining
a lean for home imnprovement Lut none pf the thiee borroweis
of the cmouniis of 38,000, $40,000 and $65,008 respeciively,
for tnac purpose, had a title to their respectxve holdings.
indeed, it does not appear from the documentation that any
of tne twency-five borrewers had a title to their declared
holurngs, o« fact which would have been of assistance in tracing
che bocrroweirs. anoccher peculiar feature of these lean trans-
acciens is thaco invariably,; in accordance with the notation
made on the back of the application forms by the Loans Officer

(iflazel Grant), the disbursenent cheques were made payablco

.

Lo persons obher tnan che borrower bul not ¢ven in one

Y

rustance was the address o

s

any such pecsons disclosed. Jhere

is, therefore, no means of tracing chese persons.  aAlso, in
Reeping wicic the syscem, these chieques were prepaced pursuant
v Cheque Requisitions made by Hazel Grant and, with but a
few excepitions, tiney were cncashed by Hazel Grant at the
with the excepuvion of one cieque

self-sane bank. it is @ face chai/the fourty cheques tendered

N
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in evidence, gpelevant to these loans, were all signed by
the female appellant, Hazel Grant, anda co-siygned by such
other authorized persons to whom she presented their for
signature i.e. Paul Popwell, Richard Haughton-James,
Ferdinand LindqQ, Gladys Overten, George Ryan, Eric Martin,
Derbert Kiffin and Clasion Thorpe. “he dignatures of each
of these officers, who did not testify, wese identified by
corpetent Wwitnesses.

Locausge thé uffizdng of these signatures was
procured .n accordance with ihe system then obtaining, Lthe
occasion co yuesiion the genulneness of the transactions did
nov arise save for one instance related by Gladys Overvon,

a telief Mapages: at the cimg and an auchorized signajory.
The incident had te do with ¥xhibits 93 and 4B, two cheques
foi $7.000 and 533,000 respe¢tively. The corresponding

chegue requisitions (bx

[#]

. €C & 6D whic¢h, like boich cheques,
voire the date 19.5.86 were praeparcd by ilazel Grant and
disclosed that they were the disbursement cheques for the
loan of $40,000 which Hazel Grant had granted to Edward
Salmon. DExhibit $A was made payable to "lHamlin UWisdom/

E. Salmen" and Exhibit &B to "Hamlin Wisdom™. HMiss Overton
testified thait they had been sent to her early one'morﬁing
Ly Hazel Gran® for her signature but she returned thém
without signing Lhem for two reasons: viz. the cheques for
$7.000 (Bx. 6R), as velated, supra, had as payee "lamlin
Wisdon/LE. Salmon” which means "pay Hamlin Wisdom on hAccount
E. Salmon". The name Krmlin Wisdom was unfamiliar to

Ms. Overter and further sie was aware of an E. Salmon who
had a bad debt. She accordingly requested the faolder which
would disclose the necessary informution about this lcan.
She did not get the folder but later in the day Hazel Grant

confronted her about the matler telling her she had
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received her message but that her customer could not be the
E. Salmon wich the bad debt. In order to allay Ms, Overton's
apprehensions Hazel Grant told her to look out the window
wheose there was a shop "Salmon's Variety SGtore". That Salmon;
she said, was hey customer. Thus assured, Ms. Overton signed
the chegues and Initialled the Chegue Regquisitions, one of
which had "Hamlin Wisdoum sold to SPL BE. 3almon® and the

other "Hanlin Wisdom sold to SPL Edward Salmon". In response
to ks, Overton's query ds to why HMr. Salmon’s hame was not
fully written, Hazel Grant promised to correct it. However,
that document {Ex. 9D) still has "E. Salmon”. She had also
sought to dismiss Ms. Overton's concern about the cheque by
telling her tliere was no need to worry because the cheque
would be lodged to Aston Wisdom'’s savings account.

Evidence froum Mrs. Emily Salmon is to the effect
that the store opposite the Sam Charpe Lquare Lranch of the
Bank c¢f Nova Scotia is situate at 32 St. James Strect and is
named “Salmon's Dargain Store and Photo Services Ltd." and
is operated by herself and her husband James Alexander Salmon.
She was notv awarc of any loan transaction with that Bank
because that is not where they get their leans. Furthernore,
they live ia 5t. James and not at Salt Marsh, White Sands
Beach P.0., Yrelawny, which ig the addreys shown for ﬁdward
Salmon. But that is ncit all.

It wlll De irecalled that Bdward Salmon's loan of
$40¢,000 was granted to pucchase a minibus. However, the
disbursement <id not effectuate that purpose. The chequ:
for 57,000 (Bx, CR) bear Hazel Grant's initial authorizing
encashient and the other cheque (Ex. oB) for $33,000 with
the name Hammlin Wisdom endorsed thercon was lodged in what
the Bank

treats as a safe-keeping account ~ that is an

account with a balance of over $200 which has not been ustd
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for over a peviod of two years. BEBrica Crews; 2 teller,
testified that Hazel Grant presented the cheque to her
together with the lodgment slip (Ex. €G) to lodge the chegue
to such an account nuymbered 3590 in the name Hamlin Wisdom.
The lodgment slip had been written up by Hazel Girant, wiiose
initials appeax on it, in addition to the initials of five
other bank officials. It needed that much authorization to
be s¢ treated and gov it.. This closes the account of the
identity of Bdward Salmon and of the disposal of the loan
of $4C,GU0 which Hazel Grant had approved for him.

Hr. Haughton-James  testified that no bank official apart
from the Loan Officer was requived to check the identity

of applicants.

It wrll ke recalled that where the loan is with
respect to a motor vehicle then there would be appraisal
forms, forms notifying the Insurance Coupany of Lhe Bank's
interest and an assignment in wiriting of the insurance
Policy to the Boank. Degpite the number of loans relating
tc motor vehicles, none of these forms was produced at the
trial because nones was availlable and there was evidence in
relation to only one such Insurance Policy.

Veronica bLinton, vho was assistant Loans Officeﬁ
to Hazcl Grani, westified that about mid-March 1987, on a
day when Hazel Grant was not at office, she was making
enguiries concerning the motor car which David Graham was
supposced to have purchased and this causcd her to check on
inis file in which she saw a "cover note" from an ilnsurance
Company. Accordingly, she contacted the Insurance Company
and obtained certain infosrmation which she reclayed to
Hazel Grant on her retuvrn to office. That information was
that the XInsurance Company reported that it had no record v

o any insurance for David Graham. Hazel Grant responded

i e
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by shruyging her shoulders, which to the Assistant Leans
Officer, scemed uncharacteristic of the meticulous and
efficieni Loans Officer she knew the appellant to be. HNext,
the Assistant opened the file and drew appellant’s attention
e the “Cover NHoke" with particular reference to the date.
She vias met with silence; so vnable to make any headway with
the inquiries she handed the file to the appellant saying to
her "Heve is the flle, you deal with it". The Assistant Loans
Officer never saw that file again.

The evidence of Miss Linton's contact with the
insurance Company was confirmed by Ena Grayson, General
Manageyr, Securilty interpativnal Agency, 79 Barnett Streeti,
Honteyo Bey, who testiflied that there were several conver-
sationg with Mizs Linton on the matter and that when her
scarches failed vo disclose the required information she
seguested and reccived from Miss Linton a copy of the "Cover
Moite” 1n quecution. With this in her possession, she was
then able o conclude that David Graham was never a client
oL her company. ‘The curtain was brought down on hor
evidence thus:

"Q. Did you find from the company’s
recoxrd any document comparable
to the document received from
Miss Linton? '
A, The document was comparable but
not the same. David Graham was
never a client of wy company."
5o far asg David Graham is concerned rveference 15 made to
Loan information Card {(Ex. 19D) which discloses his address
to be Sandy Bay P.C., Hanovexr, and that his loan of $39,000
was approved foi “the purchase of Honda Civic Motor Car
(a very pew model) with serial no. 34205 21441".
lligs Linton’s cfforts failed to locate either David Graham
oy this wmotor car. The loan was disbursed by Ménagef“s

Cheque Ho. 2356000 dated December 15, 1986, signed by
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Hazel Grant and D. L. Kiffin and payable to "Glen Parkes
a/c bavid Graham”. ‘That cheque was encashed con the following
day by Hazel CGrant with Roy Glenn, Remittance Teller No. 1
at the Bank. |

Miss Janet Young, Sales Co-crdinator at Motor
Jales and Company Limited, testificd that in hAugust 1906,
the male appellant, ldon Grant, attended at their office
in cempany vith Mr. Derrick McKoy, his attorney-at-law,
and placed an order for ten Towny Motor Cars at a price of
342,835 each. Subseguently, he returned, made a deposit
of $5G,U00 and informed her that he was forming a company
to buy ithe cars but that the documentation was not in place
but he weould advise her further. Later he returned and
advised her he would take one of the cars in his namc. He
paid a farther $2,82°5 in ¢ash and took the car leaving a
balance of 31G,.07C on deposit. He subsequently telephoned
i advised hexr that the name of the company was "Festival
Ciaxr Rentals® and he requssted a debit note for four of the
cars 1in that name. fhe complicd. The note was in the
amount of $171,.0u0. Be came and took dclivery of the four
cars,paying the amcouni: by BLank of ilova Scotia Cheque No.
£5347508 dated Scptember 20U, 1986 for the swum of $€171,341.24
signed by Richard Raughton-James and Eric Martin, Credit

Ot

by

icer. Hr. Martin %festified that the cheque was presented
to hiim for signature by lHazel Grant and at the tiwme it was
acconpanied by the Chegue Requisition initialled by her.

ag was reguired by the Iystem both himself and

Mr, Haughton-James sigﬁed the cheque and initialled the
Chegue Requisitvicn. hazel Crant did not sign that choeque.
'‘the cheqgue (Ex. 14A) wes made payable to "Motor Sales &
fervice a/¢c Festival Car Rentals" while the Requisition

Fcoiwm in Hazel Grant's handwriting shows the cheque to be..
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in favour cf "Movor wales & bervice so0ld to SPL anthony Harvey”.
Aodeparture from chie regular pattern is observed here. On the
occasions when chegues were icsued with reference to the
account fcllowving che name of the payee that name would be the
name of the borrower on whosce account the payment was being
made.  The difference here is that whereas the accounc
seflecited on the ciregue is "Pestival Car Rentals® the account
on the Regqguisition for vhat chegue is Anthony Harvey. How
there was a loan in the name of Anthony Havrvey for $12¢,000
put no loan in the name of Festival Car Rentals., The infor-
mation wratten on the back of anthony Harvey's application
shows that ithe diiference was accounted for by the payment

of a depositc of $42,373,24. 'Phe cost of the Lloan brought

che final figyre to $210,740, che gecuriity for which s a
Promissory hHote in a like sum.

A pertinent guescion is "Whai is thie connection
between Lldon Grant, Anchony Harvey and Festival Car Rentals?”
Un the Loan spplication form the name of tine borrower is
stated &5 “"Anthony Harvey t/as Festival Car Rentals". His
addcoess 18 given as Readinyg P.O. and his occupation as Car
Rental Ayent and Villa Operator. Yet investigations by
Deteccive vorporal Cecil Lewis failed to secure any infou-
mation of his e¢xistence in the area.

The Cevitificate of Incorporavion shews thac
Vesweival Car Rentals . Limited was incorporated on Septembor 2,
198, The twe signatories to ciie Hemoranduin of Associacion
cie Devrick HMcKoy and Maisie Jackson.

iir, McRoy ﬁestificd chac Bldon Grant engaged his
sevviceg 1p the formation of Festival Car Rentoals Limaited
put said he did not wish to be a direcitor. BEldon Grani anu
his brother Henry Geance, who helda 5% of the shares, were

menbers of che company and whe first Dicectors were
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Derrick lcKoy and Henry Granc.

There is anocher cheque involving Eldon Grant,

54 (Ex, 7B) dated July 15, 19do, for

.
ft=1

*t is chegyue ne. 15034
the amouni of §$7¢, 000 signea by Huzel vrant and Geoige Ryan
payable to Arthur Valcentine. The Cheque Reguisition dated
L8/7/80, prepured by Hazel Grant, snows that this cheqgue
represented o poccion of the loan of 585,000 in the name of
sylvester Graham for the. purchase of a bus. The balance of
the loan 514,968 {$32 wene tovards charges) was pait outc by
chegue no. AU344452 (Bx. 75) dated July 1%, 1968, in the
nainte of Arthur Valentine and was signed by Hazel Grant and
Pecdinund Lindon This cheque was cashed av the Bank.
Evidence of tihis is che inatioal of hiazel Grant authorising
cncasiment, the stamp of Remilitance Teller de. 1 and details
o vhe cash puid ocut. Sylvester Giraham, on whose account it
PUCDOL LS ©o huve been diawn, Was never found by the Police
in vhie Salt Spoinyg Road aduress on the applicuation and no
wiormation was ceccived that he had ever lived in that area.
e was the vus foo the purchase of which the loan was
granted ever located,

The chegue for $70,000 was differently croeaied,
o found ihs way into Mr. bHcKoy's Cliencs’ Account at the
nandg of Bldon Goaeni. M. dMcKoy tesvificd that as a pari
of his pcoactice he opevated a Ciients' Account at the sank
of Commerce Jawmalrce Limited, Kingston of which Xldon Giant,
a clienc of lenyg-scanding, bhad knowledge. &t Eldon Grant's
veguest, arrangement was made for Grant to make a lodgment
to the account the nuaber for which was supplied to Grant.
e was subsequently saiisfied that the lodgient was made of
$70,000, wihach wos by tihe chegue (Ex. 78) which bears an
endorsenent "iythur Valentine-Deposit C/un #02036817 B of -

Commn. Kings St.". Bvidence of ldeclony Tapper, Administrator
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of that Bank, confirvms that the account beaving . that
nuibes was the Clients' iLccount operated by Derrick and
Grace Mchoy and chat the lodgment was in fact made to ihe
account., indeed, By, McKoy cestificed that he disbursed the
aiwount on gluon Granv's instructions by making payment to
tlovor dales uand Service. As a matier of commenv, it is
worthy of note that the "hAvciur Valentine® endorscd on these
WO cnegues undes cunside;ationp Exhibits 74 and 7B, manifests
uwistinet dissamilucivies. (L will be necessary to return
later to cons.ider che implications arising from the dealings
wich theoese chegues.

There arve wo othes cheques relacing to Festival
Cay xencals., Cheque no, #U455500 (Bx. 20A) dated April 10,
15:7, for the amount ci $4U,000 poayuble wo "Festival Carx
Rentals a/c R, Bailey' signed by Hazel Gerant and Richard

Haughion-danes and choegue no. AUL55492 (Bx. 294) dated !

o

S

Aprel ¥, 187, for the amounc of §5u,0U0C payable to "Festival ;

Cuai Rencuals a/c bBdgar tmich® signed by the same two auchorized
puirsons. bouta are stamped on the back "Festival Car Kentals” !

and vach bewss what ig intendea to be vhe signature

a. parvey" bput che wio signacures are dissinilar.  The
puspuse of cach chiegue s stacted on the back chus:
On EBExivibic 26a -
"This paymncne 23 ade on benalf
cf navoirton sarley and constitutes
balance in full of cash price sale
of 15¢E5 Meuugubishi Towny after cash
payrienc or noet tirade in allowance
of §12,000.°
Cn Lhe back of Exiidbitc 294 -
Fiails payment is nwae on behalf of
Bdgasn Smivhh and congtitutes balance
i full i cush price of sale of

L9465 itsubishi Yowny altcer cash
payment ., '

(Hazel Grunc's funitials).
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7t may be of more Lhan passing interest that the cars purchased

by Eldon Grant from Mutcr Sales and Service Company were 1985
Mitsubishi l'ownys.
Mrs. Janet Young's evidence; supported by the Gales

Urders - Bxs. 53G-534 - signed py Eldon Grant, sinows that the

lasce of the five cavs delivered vo Lldon Grant was delivered

4o

Wil

ol vctuber 2. 1985, He asked her co hold cthe otier five
r

<

o>
o

whaich he hac orucred and gave her telephone number 952-4440
by wiich she could make concact with him thirough his wife
gince he did nct uave his own telephone, When she did not
hear from him for some time she called the number which
Eldon dranc had lefc her (it happens to ke the telephone
number for the Bank of Nova Scotia, sSam Sharpe gguave) and
after appropriai:e idencvification by both parties she spoke
wich - the femuale appellant telling her to tell her husband
Lo coime and cake delivery of the cars., They spoke on three
occasions. Un one occasion when she called Hrs. Crant was
not available und she left a message to wvhich Mrs. Gxanc
responded by calling her. There was still on depusit a
valance of {10,000 feor Elucn Grant which she subsequently
pald to his atcorney-at-law, M. Dexvrick McKoy, on his
presencing & woituen aucihoorvization from Eldon Grant, That
Jas in December 1980. Eldon Grant did noc take delivery of

the ouvher five cars.

rh

it seemed peculrar that several of thesg loan

cheques were

~

cashed by the Loans Utfficer Hazel Granc, it

woulu seem tliat the wystery deepens by the evidence of several
Yellora e vhe Rank ;l‘i]élit the Loang Officer wag rhe one fiom
whiom they rseceived payments in respect of these loan accounts.
Payments were evidenced by decumencs called Debit Contras on
wvhich would be recoided the decvails either by the cellers

firom the information she supplied or by kMrs. Crant herself
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and there were occagions when she did not present che paymenc
cards which should accompany the payments. The evidence of

fous Tellers viz. Carl Stephenson, Donna Williawms, Roy Glenn

‘ and Peter HMuiray, supported by twency-six Debit Contras, is
viiat during che pevicd 29th July. 1836 to iUch April, 1987,
Hazel Goanc mace {ifty-four paymenis i1 respeclt o twenity-
three uvf Lhe twenty-five accounts in ¢uestion totalling
124,415, There was one payment in each of the following
accounts Uevon Scoik, Delbert Henry, Fredevicl Arnold;

Devricl Jones, Alphauso [uryay, ©rrol murray and samuel Brown;
two paynmenits on eachh ¢f the following - Gecorge Dunban,

{

Joinn bixon, Edgar Ward, Vincent Hav:is and Clive Lawcencejy
three payilents on each of the fellowing - aAnthony larvey,

Owen Rose, sylvester Graham, Depnis Walker, Oswald Dawkins,

David Crabam and Scftven Morris)y four each for Aston Wisdom
and BEdward Salmon and five payments for Adrian Buier. NAs a
matiey of interest so fac as dates ave concerned it is noted
that the last locan in the name of Egerten Gordon for $4¢,000
vas goanted on Lh Lerel, 1947, one payment of 34,391 wvas
made on guth Apcil, 1987, ewght of the payments toetalling
$i5,033 wesre nade on 9uh april, 1947; twenvy payments
votalling §4%,271 were made on 10th April, 1967 and ﬂazel
GCrant left the bani on Vacation Leave on 13th Apcil, 1987

co veturn on 20th May, 1937 bdut she did not return and as it

cranspived no further payments were made on these loans.

it

vhe payments by her brougyht the accounts up Lu date and so

f wvoided any quecies during hexr absence. She tendered her
resignacion on 20th May, 1987. 1t was thiu latter evenc
which cccasioned the enqguiiles which resulted in these
cnarges.

A1l loans vere numbered and registered in a book

and e loan documencs carried that number. EBach day a
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conputelr prinv-ouit would shiow the loans on which the payments
viere delinguentc. Duiring liazel Grant's absence, the Depari-
nent was uanaged dy Mrs. Veronlca Linton, the Assistant Loans
Officer. For reasons which have not been digsclosed, the bank
did noc accept Hazel vrant's gesignation but MNys, Linton
remained .n charge of the Depacimenc since Hauel Grant wayu
gwill absent. ilhen Hrs., Linton checked the cowputer d:inﬁ-ouu
ol delinguent accounts on Z2oth May, 1507, sh¢ observed che
naiie Samvel Brown.  The date of that lean was 24th Pebruary,
i9¢%, and so pecause of the paynent cf the instalment by

Hanel srant on L0th Apcil, 19387 a paymenc was just now due

on Samuel Drown's account. When Mes. Linton saw chis name

she took out all the Lean information Cards in respect of
current loans. she discovered from Samuel Brown's Card

(Bx, 24D) that neither a Savings or Current gsccounc was listed.
she cliecked the £iling Cabinet for Samuel Brown's file. There
was ricne, MWien she checked his Promissory NHote che recoynised
the handwriting oif dazel Grani at the place wheie the borrower
should sign. Zhe madce a further check on the delinguent list
aind Ccame dpoen the names Alphanso hurray, Foiederick Arneld,
David sraham, Bdwaid valmon, Vennis Walker, Brrol Hurray,
Geovge Dunham, Bdgar Ward, Dervick Joncs, Delbert Henzy and
defton Morris. It will be vecalled wnat fhese weve anong
e loans on which poynenis had been made by Hazel Grant on

April Uy 2 and 10 befourge she went on leave., There were no

fxles to be found in suspecr of these luans. 7There was no

t2

vesponse to telugrams which Mrs. Linton chen senc to these
various persons,. On cezananai.on of the Loan Informatcion Cards
shie discovered certain simlarities viz:

L. Uone o0of the Lorrowers cesidew
L hlentego say

[\

A1l uperated out of thedii homes -
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3. Ione had a telephone
4. All were self-employed and

were either single or married
with uncmployed wiva$.

Thaniis to a change introduced by Mr. laughton-James,
which had apparoently been kept closely gharded, the coplies
vi Loan Applicactions were no longer bging shroedded bue wers
kept by uchce Auditor. By veference L9 these copies it was
determined which were the missing files. When the telegrams
farled to bring results Mys. Linton took teo the road in
search of vhe bor.owers and the vebicles which they were
supposed to have purcihased. By this time Myr. Kyan, the
Hanuger, and Hi. Haughton-James had beep brought into the
picture and the search was now on in carngst bringing to
light other similar loans - aAston ilisdom; Adrian Baker,
anthony Havvey/troding és Festival Car Rencals, OUscar brissett.
50 sevicus was the sicsuation chat, although
HMis, Lintop did not usually wock on jaturdays, she weni
te woerl on Latuvday tlay 30, 1347, and while she was in
cowpany with Mo, Syan and Mr. Haughton-danes on the thicd

floor, just pasi mid-day, i1n camg Haeel Srant and greeted

177}

thew thus "Hi evecybody, what's huppening?".  said

Mr. Ryan "dHazel, we arc here looking for some f£iles and we
figure you might be uble Lo wgsist us". "Files missing?

Ho Bi.Y, ghe replied, "to every ledger carcd there is a
r3le” . She then addressed Mrs, Linton by hev nickanone

fii Wikel® . she said, to which Mys. Linton responded that
she was looking for some files which could anot be found.

At that point Mr. Lolmun, che Chief inspector, cmerged

from Mr. Ryan's office and spoke to hewr. Mrs. Linton did
pot hear vhaco wvas sald and was npt any furcher involved wvith
the watter chav day. She vas av che dank until 5 o'clock |,

during which time she saw Hauzel Grant go down scairs and
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saw and heard the male appellant talking with sr. Ryan.
Ghe saw both appellants leave the gank's parking lot in a
car after 5300 p.in,

In cross—examinacion she said that she became sus-
picious when she saw Hazcel Grant's handwriting at the place
whece the borrower ought to zign and stated that for every
loan, she expucted to find either a Savings or Current
account.

The visit o the pan: by Hazel Grant wags not as
casual as it might have uappeared from her greetings. The
Manager, Mr. Ryan, had paid three visits to her home - twice
on May 29 and once again atc 9:00 a.m. on the 30th but he
found neither her nor any of the files. So after she had

scvacted that theve was a folder for every loan, #HMr. Ryan went

into his coffice along with herself, Mr. Calder and Mr. Holman.

Mr. Ryan was thien in possession cf the twency-five files
witht the photocopies of the Loan hApplications which had been
in the custody of lus. Zvonne Edmons, the Auditor, the Loan
Application Cards and the Original Promissory flotes which
were Hept by Mr. Gladstone Thorpe, Assistant Manager.

Mr. Ryan had made @ list of the names in the files but when
he sead them Mrs. Grant said she had granted hundreds of
loans and could not recall any "just off the bat"., 3o

Hi. Ryan prescnied tes with che docunments from the files

one at a time but to no-avail. After this had lasted for
abouc an aour lMr. Ryon decided vo call in the Police. le
twor up cvhe telephone and began dialling when MNis. Grant
said “Mr. Ryan, don'L call the Police”., He did not complete
the call. He said to her, "Why, do ycu have somcthing vo
say?" . to which she replied, "Yes™., DBut when she ssid
nothing more e asked her +f she wished to speak vo him in

ot

private and when she said yes the others present left the
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rooi. As gecorded in the totes of Evidence this is what
vranspired between hersclf and kr. Ryan:

"I said ‘Are these loans fictitious'.
Che said 'Yes'. I sald 'All of

! them? ., she said 'Yes'. 1 asked
if thewe were any more loans in
addition to thosce - shie soid '"Ho'.
i asked her if she had a list or
some sort of control she wmight
have stating what accecunty are
involved, 1 asxked her what she had
done with the moncy. She said sac
was not in a position ce cell me.
I ogaic 'it is over a million dollavrs,
you must know what you did with the
money you stole'., She said 'I did
not steal any noney, I borrowed it
and I had all incencion of paying
it bacit*. I asked her how she was

it going to pay it back. 3he indicated
chat her husbana had real esiate
developments and it would be paid
from sale proceeds.”

Mr. Ryan called the others back inco his vffice and reperted
to them vhat had just taken place. He still pursued
SRGuiries wich Q view Lo asceitalning whetuicr "there were
any othwer 2ccounts in the booxk that che might have borrowed
co wittch she said no™. Hg then agsked "if she would give
p & wiltten stutement confessing thuav she had granted these
Fictrticus loans and had noi tampered wich any ovher loans®
and she said "yes". He then requested her to acknowledge
cachh of the loans involved and she wrote on each Promizsory
SN XCCXRE ‘
tote "1 acknowledge the above debi", dated and signed it.
Thereafter, she wrote a braief statement which was admitted
i evadence ws Exhiwset 23, the admission of which has been
challengea., it reads:
¢ "o onarzel Gronv, a Loans Officer

ul cthe Bank of ova Scotia Jam.

Ltd. Montego Bay branch co make

the following Scatewment of ny

own free will that during the

period Wov./e5 Lo Apr./d7, &

yranced lcuans in fictitious

names and have destroyed the

files.

R
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"Thege loan applications were
taken and processed by me.

1 have acknowledged the indi-
vidual loans by muking a State-
ment 'I acknowledye the above
debt® on each Promissory Note

To ithe best of my knowledge
these are all the loans & there
are no further loans and © have
noi: tampered with any deposits
or other leans at this bank.

i, Grant.'
Moo Ryan tescitiea that this statement was given voluntavrily
and that neither he nor anyone present threatenced her or

held out any induccirent or pcowise to her. Concerning

4

Mrs. Granc, bkr. Ryan said:

"she was a very matured, mebi-

culous and experienced worker.

She was a very genior officer

wall versed in praciices, know-

ledgye and relative procedure of

the bank. I had even recomnended

her for promotion to management -

for vraining."
He said that at about 2:0U p.m., while speaking with Mis. Grant,
he was made aware of the presence of her husband, who had
come to fetch her. He went and spoke to the huesband who
secmed anxious as Lo what was happening and eventually said
if Lv was money involved “that was nQ problam even if it
was a million dollars®. Prior o chis encounter My, Ryan
¢id not know the husband. He was not allowed to see her
ciien buu was asked to rewurn laver., He did and Mrs. Grant
went and spoke with him.  Aftey she had acknowledged the
debts Mr. Ryan had asikea her whelheyr her husband would

(e

guaruantee the debty and sihe said she would discuss it with
hiw. On the occasion when siie went to speak to her husband
she recurned after about fifceeh minutes and advised Mr.
M. Ryan that her husband would gaive the guarantee but hre

would peefer to send the moxrtyage document to his attoiney
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before signing it. However, the unlimited guarantee in
evidence ags Exhibitc 31, siygned by Eldon Grant and witnessed
by Richard Haughton-James,; to whom was assigned the respon=
sieility of dealing with it, is dated May 30, 1987.
Hy . Haughton~James testified that io was after LEldon Grant
had signed the guarantee thav e and Mrs. Granc left, Moe. Ryan
and others having left befose.
i fkyan further testifled that on the following
Monday, June 1, 19357, Mrs. Grant telephoned him. Bhe said
she wus speaking from Ringston and wished to kuow what amount
the bank would accept oo the 1nitial deposic in paying back
the loan. BShe said she could then find approximaiely.$10,000
ile told her to provide the bank with a propesal indicating
how the entire amovnt would bz paid. Hext day, June 2, 1987,
she called sgain, this time puipertedly frxom Coral Gardens,
informung hinm that her aticorneys, Derriclt McKoy and Company,
would be giving the bank an undertaxing to pay off the amocunt,
Further, she saild sihe had written a letter o the bank
f cequesting a pay-out figure and asiied that the responsce be
gent to her at home because she had no transportation at
the time. HMr. Ryan promised to do as she had reqguesced.
in the meantime, he rcceived her lettrer, so when she called
again the nexc day, Vednesday June 3, he was able to inform
her that he had indeed received it and chat he had sent her
a list of thie varicus accounts by 4 porter so she should
veccive it shortly. Ohe sadd she intended to go to Kingston
b to see hev attorney to negotiate for the letiter of undertaking.
He asked hesr to keep in toucn with haim daily by collect calls.

tter (BEx. 34) reads as follows:

(o]
Bt
(T
H
'.._J
©




" P.O. Box 154,
Readinyg, s$tv. Jaues,

June 1, iY9s7.

Mr. George Ryan;

Mancyer -

The Bank of lova Scotia Jam. Liud.
Sam Shavrpe Square,

rionteyou »ay-.

Dear Mr. Ryan,

Further to ouxr conversation of even
date, 4 write to ascertein the specific
loans thut was the subject of oux
discusggsion,

Upon determinizg this, I will be
better able to put more spacific proposal

to you.
Yours truly,
Hazel Grant /s/
/hg."

Hrs. Grant called on the Friday to say the machine
listing‘which had keen sent to her was inadequgte. Slie wished
to have photocopies of the Promissory Hotes which she had
endorsed as well as a list of the names and the amounts.

Hi. Ryan piomised vto send these., On the ngday»she called
tG &8k what was hapnening because she had noc received the
list and that she had hearsd some news on the radio. He said
ne had heard it too and told her chal the Police were inves-

tidatinyg. asked if che Police had contacted her she said no.

from a man idencifying himself as Derrick McKoy wich whomn
he discussed the wmatter concerning HMrs. Grankt.,

Me. Ryan said in relation to loans,; the applicatiuns
and cheqgues were presented to him by Mrs. Grant for his
approval and signuture. e would qgquestion her and would

examine the purpose of the loan, the cpplicints' abilioy
- ¥ s
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to repay and the security. He would rely on the officer’s
credit, judgment and expervience before signing cheques.
it was in these circumstances that he had signed Exhibit
78 Cheque wWo. AC344454 payuble to aArthox Valentine for the
sum of $70,000 drawn on account Sylvester Groham which
Eldon Grunt depesited to e, lcRoy's Clients® Account and
which was cvencually pald out to Motour Sales and Service
Company .

Cross-exaraination of this witness centered around
(a) operations at the bank and (b) what transpired in his
vffice on May 30 leading up to and including the writing

of Bxnibiv 33 - the statement of Mis. Grant. aAs to (&) his
evidence was confirimatory of ihe evidence of other bank
cfficials. He confirmed that officers of the bank from time
to time cashed chegues for cusvomers and sometines made pay-
ments for them. #As to (b) there was no significant departure
from his evidence-in-chief. ©On his visit to Mrs. Granc's
hone vin the sSaturday morning he had been accompanied by
Police froamm the Coral Gardens Station but it would appear
that at that stage he hud not yet made a formal report.
Regarding the writing of Exhibit 33 he said rrs. Grant
wanted ©o Lhknow whai she should write. e also disclosed
that she had told him of the fate of the files before she
wrove the statemcent which was written on a regular bank
scratch pad. In hils evidence-in-chief he had stated she
did ask what she should write wftez it was disclosed that
the loans were fictivious and that he had told her to write
that the loans were fictitious.

Detective Maurice Goodgame testified that 1t was
un June 12, 1987 that he received a report from Mr. Ryusn
and commeinced investiygations which resulted in these charges,

. -
On July 27, 1967, he went to Montegoe bay Police Station and
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there he saw both appellants and their attorney-at-law;
My. Darl DeLisser. He identified himself to them and apprised
them of the report which he was investigating but he was

¥ ©o learn noching from them as they invoked the .right to be
silent., lirs. Grant said she had been instrucced by her lawyer
tu say nothing and to answer no guestions. Eldon usrant said
"I have also Leen instructed not to say anything". ile pro-
ceeded Lo arrest, chaige and caution them. They made no
stacementc.

vhat was the evidence vpresented by the prosecution.

After an unsuccessful suvmission by Hr. Phipps Lthat there
was no case o answer he anncunced that Eldon Grant would
rest hes case. Hazel Granv gave sworn evidence and called
lher sister, 2ndria Manning, who confirmed the visits co the
heme ny HMr. Ryan, M. lolwan and two Policemen and that ut
their request she searched for the missing files but found
none.
Hazel Geant gave as hery reason for her resignation
j the facc that she was pregnant alt the time énd was apparentcly
taking precaution because of & previous mishap. the said
that her branch was checked regyularly - the lasit being only
a few days before she commenced her leave - and she received
a gooud repoct from Mr. Nam, the inspector. Indeed, she had
never had an advoerses report on the operation orf her branch.
She sought tu meet the case for the prousecution. Referring
Lo the twenty-five lvans individually she said:

L have never prepared an appli-
cation for a loan withoul peisonally
interviewing the applicant. L have
never approved a loan without satis-
fying myself ithat @«ll the necessary
procedures fcoo @ loan have been
undertaken. Bafore any disbursement
is made e, lHaughton~Janes had to

soe the application and in his absence
Me. Ryan. When the loan was approved,
vicher than by myself, Mr. Haughton-James®
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*weuld write on it ‘Approved by
iManager prioi to disbursement’.

iie keeps a rubber stamp. There

1s a Credit infermation Service.
On the occasions I am making Loans
I would have to gel a credit
reporec from tvhem on each custcmer.
L have never at any time nude a
loan wichout the repoxt from tne
Credit Information Service. This
Systom operaves at the bunk from
the vime i wenv there up to the
tame © left,

Whenever a motor vehicle is uced
ag a securicy for a loan I vould
have to du a physical check of
the mctor vehicle, In the cuases
before chie Couct I have done
physical checks. n agpraisal
Repori would be prepacred for the
vehicle. There is a k1l of sale
for every loan that is secured

by a motorxr vehicle. 'The vehicle :
wvould have to be insured. There
would be indiceation on docuinent
identafying the vehicles i.c. the
vype and regiscvration number - on
the Insurance, Bill of Sale and
Appraisal. i1l documents were
prepared in respect of these matters
before Court. These documents were
Lept in the Customers' files in a
filing cabinet.”

she said turther thav everybody haa access to the cabinet;
the key for which was kept by the typist. She suld "I did

not personally take avay any file or any documenc from the

bank” and she also cefcerrea to the face that tces. Equns,
an Audiitor, had said in her evidence that she had seen the
Criginal aApplication in april and May when she, the appellant,
wus on leave. What idirs. Bawons had said in cross-~cexamination
wias "I would have scen &he Originals froum time to time during
the monchs of April and Huy®. The comment muy be made that
it has not been disclesed when the files disappeared. They
wveie pobt nissced uncil Hay Z2v. 1987,
Concegniing the cheques, she said: i
“Thevre is noching fualse about tie

chegues whick: I signed and which
RN . X ) "
are exiiibiried in Couri liere.®
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Regarding the events at He. Rvan's office, she
g ¥

said she was shown the pliotocopies of the applications and
she identified her handwriting on them. The guestioning,

she saild; lasted some five hours and she became upset because
her husband siould nave reiurned for heo in an hour and sho
was nou allowed to go te him but thav Mr. Ryan did leave

the office and retursned with a note from her husband. She
was gilven cefreshiient during the questioning. This is how
che dealt witn che writing of che statemenu (Ex. 33):

"4t one stage My, Ryan said, ‘it
was a mattegr £or the Police!
He starced dialling the telephone.
f I felt bau and 1Y order to save
che eubarrassinent with myself and
ey fwaily, he should not call the (sic)
Police. He asked me if I had
something tuv say ¥nd I made a
suggestion to him, #hen Mr. Ryan
asked me 'aive ithege loans ficti-
tious?*®, 1 did nog say 'Yes®'., At
no stage did Y say "Yes., the loans
are ficvitious'. 1 said 'I have
not granted dny fictiticus loans'.
i wxoLe and signed a document in
thie bank that day. 1 look at
Exhibit 33. ¥ wrote and signed
it. Mr. Holman And Mr. Ryan kept
{ on celliny me that 25 loans are
fraudulent. I kept denying this
for about 5 nows. Ther Mr., Holman
vhreatened o fave me arrested.
This after the telephone incident.
Iie told e I should wiite what he
said to me. 7hey gave ne this
picce of papyr and I wrote
Mr. Holruan gnd Mr. Ryan dlC tated
this. I did not grant any ficti-
tioug loans. 1 dic not aestroy
any files. Bxhibit 32 was not
prepared ol my own ficve will., “fhe
woids on Jdocuitent ‘ol my own free
will® - ngt my words; °‘fictitious
louns' - not m) words. 4 woite (sic)
wwhribac 33 to save embarrassmentc
voomy fanily and imyself and @ was
ciireatenes that 1L L did not write
1t i woulu se arrested. i1 had
wiliuven on the Promissory note
pefore Exhibit 33. Exhibit 33
wiltten in tine prescence of Mr. Ryan,
Mr., Calder and dy. fam. I felc
real bad with the questcioning and
the threat to call the Police. On I
completion of writing Exhibit 33
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"I vefused to sign it and

Hy. Holman took up the phone and
calied Fraud Squad. I sald to

all four men 'if I should sign

the note 1 would bLe given a chance
to call my Attorney'. HMr. Holman
rushed on vo me, took his glasses
frowm his face and said 'lio way'.

He went and called the Fraud Squad.
I reully wanted to contact a lawyer.
i signed when Mr, Holman said

"Ho way®."

She denied the incideni relaied by Mrs. Overton relating
te the loan for E. Salmen being identified wich tilg Salmon’s
store oppesice the bank. She was not aware of uny corres-
pondence in conneccion with these twenvy-five loung being

[ returned "unclaimed" or Yaddressee unknown". No insurance
Represcentative or agent had ever spoken to her about

Davzd CGraham, she said. sShe admitted beleplioning Mr. Ryan

after she had heacsd the news on the radic thav there was
a fraud at the bank and that she had asRed for a list of
the missing files.

Cross-examined, cshe said that she had not attempied -
to find any of che wpplicants and chat checké with the Credit
Infourmation Secvice weuld normally be done by telephone
and sne would weite the result on the application. 3he
made the following admissions:

L. I'nat all signatures and

inicials on cheqgues identified
as hers are indeed hers;

2. fhat she placed her initials on
the cheques to authorize encash-
‘ment;

2. That sne did encash tite cheques
\ as related by the several

Kemittance Tellers thouygyh she
could not recall telling thein
that she was encashing them for
tiie custowmers who were in her
office but in fact the custumers
were usuvally in her vifice o at
the counter;

4. That she cid make paymencs into
the accounts of the twenty-five
applicants.
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With reference to Festival Car Rentals, this is

what she said:

"I remember the name Anthony Harvey

* i don'u reneaber the person - no
recullectivn., If I see him I might.
i do net know anything about Festival
Zar Rentals. 1L do not know any of
the persons involved I 1t - not even
one, Wnen { was preparing the loan
for My. Harvey connected to estival
Cur Rentals, 1 made no enguicies at
all about Festival Car kencals. &
2id not censider at any vime who else
aay have been invelved ajonyg with
Fescival Car Rentals. Subsequently {sic)
to processing this loan to Hurvey 1
recall no enquiries at all aboutc
Festival Car Rentals. Up to tuday

éﬁ i nave made no stch epguiries.

i heard cvidence in Court Eldon Granw
involved in Testival Car Rentals.
First time [ heaving it in Court.

i still have made no ¢éngquiries.”

Then, dealing with Exhibit 7B, the chegue for $70,000
payalble vo acthiovs Valentvine, which ERldon Granc lodged to
. McKoy's Cliznts' nccount, she sald:

: "1 look ot BExhibit 7B. I signed

| this cheque. I gave it to custe~

f er . 1t would have keen hanaded to

a \ Graham., wWot su I handed this cliegue
Lo Me. Grant. 1 de not know that
Mr. Granit lodged it to Mr. McKey's
account,

Referring tu Bxbabit 14k (the cheque for $i71,341.24 payable
Lo Motur Sules and bervice a/c Pestival Car Rentals which
Elaon Grant puid co Motor Sales and Service Company) and
the Cheque Reguisivcicen thecvefor she said thoat the Reguisition
had been prepared Ly her, but said she did not have any

\ scieme wicn hee husband to reguest payment: e anthony Harvey
re Motor Sales and Compuny. She denied that Mrs. Janet Young
had cver teleplivned her. o recollection of hexr telephoning
apcut cars wirich EZlden Grant was to collect. Hor does she
recull receiving a message which led her to coll Mes. Young

at Motor Sales and Compainy. Concerning the cvents in

-~

o
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Mr. Ryan’s Office on May 30, 1987, she said at the beginning
she denied that the loans were fictitious but she agreed

with Mr. Ryan’s version that he did hand her the individual
files as he sought information concerning each. Also she
agreed with him that she stopped him when he was in the
course of telephoning the police but she denied expressing
any wish to speak to him in private. She never admitted

the loans were fictitious. It was Mr. Ryan who told her

they were. As well she agreed that he said “it is over

one million you steal you must know what you did with it”,
but she denied saying “I did not steal it. | borrowed it

and had all intention of paying it back’. The idea of

treating the sums as a loan came from her in order to save
the embarrassment to herself and family. With the exception
of June 3 she admitted the telephone calls to Mr. Ryan
during June 1 - 5 as well as the letter, Exhibit 24, seeking
specific details.

Three grounds of appeal were argued on behalf of Hazel Grant and
two on behalf of Eldon Grant. Ground 1, which is common to both,
complains;

“(a) That the amendments to the
indictment,including the
addition of the appellants
to counts after their
Defences had been closed
and final addresses made,
were wrongly allowed.

(b)  That each appellant was
denied a fair hearing by
being refused the opportunity
of testing by cross
examination the evidence in
support of allegations in the
amended charges and also
refused the opportunity to
give evidence and call
witnesses to answer the
amended charges.”

For Hazel Grant, Ground 2 challenged the admission into
evidence of statements allegedly made by her complaining
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that the wrong test was applied. Ground 3 of her grounds
states that "the verdict is unreasonable and cannot be supported
having regard to the evidence". Ground 2, on behalf of
Eldon Gurant, makes o similar complaint as Ground 3 (supru)
but expands it thus:

"in particular there wus no proof

of primary factsfrom which inferences

could be drawn of an involvement in

any criminal activity alleyedly under-

taken by Hazel Grant.”
A fourth ground of appeul against sentence on behalf of
Hazel Crani wvas not argued.

it was previously noted that the amendments to

the Indictment were grunted after all evidence had been
adduced. But as the grounds of appeal complain, final address
oy Defence Counsel, on behalf of Hazel Grant; had also been
closed. That was on December 17, 1988. Arising out of
rfir. Phipps' address, Mr. Small indicated his intention to
apply for amendments to the Indictment and the adjournment
was taken until December 28. After somawhat lengthy
subpmissions on December 24, the amendments applied for were
granted. Apart from the addition of both appellants to
Counts which up to then clhiarged only one of them, as previosuly
mentioned, the amendments affected the Counts charging -

{a) Causing money to be paid by
false pretences;

(b} Causing a person to affix his
. name by false pretences;
(c) Cbtaining a Valuable Secuwity

by false pretences.
At thal stage the Particulars allieged in these counts read:

as to (a) (Wene) ...... with intent to
defraud and by means of false
precences caused ...... dollars
tc be paid vide Bank oi ilova
Scucia Cheque Ho. .... dated

v s 5 4 3 4

as to (b) {Name) ..... with intent to
defraud the Banik of Wova Scotia



fraudulently caused .... to
affix his name to ank of Hova
Scotia Cheque Ro. ...in order
that it way afterwards be used
as a valuable security.

as to (c¢) Eldon Grant ..... with intent
to defraud and by means of
false pretences obtained clieque
no. .... for %70,000 a valuable
security for the use or benefit
of nimself.

in the amended form these Counts now read:

(a)  (¥Wame) ..... with intent to
defraud the Bank of Wova Scotia
Jamaica Ltd. by means of falsely
pretending that BNS Cheque No.
ce.o dated .... wes for a genuine
. loan transaction Caused csoeeoss.
dellars co be paid vide bLank of
Hova Scotia Cheque No. .... dated

6 e e 0 n oo O

(L) (Hame) ..... with intent to

: defraud the Dank of RHova 3cotia
Janaica Ltd. fraudlently caused
veoe. o affix his name to Bank
of Nova Scotia Chegue HO. ceeons
in ordexr that it may afterwards
be used as a valtvable securivy
by falsely pretending that the
caid cheque was for a genuine
loan trancaction.

. Eldon Grant was added to Count 56 which originally charged
Hazel Grant alone with causing a person to atfix his name
by false pretences.

(c) Hazel Grant and Eldon Grant with

intent to defraud the Bank of
Hova Scotia Jamaica Ltd. fraudu-
lently caused Richard Haughton-
James to affix his name to Bank
of Hova Scotia CTheque Ho. A0345¢9
dated 30th September, 19806 in
order that it may afterwards be
used as a valuable security by
falsely pretending that the said

L Cheque was for a genuine loan
transaction.

A good starting point is to examine the power
of amendment conferred upon a Resident Magistrate with a
view to determining whether the amendments ordered in this

case are sanctioned by that power. Such power is conferred
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Ly Section 278 of the Judicature (Resident Magistrates) Act
which reads:

"ht any stage of a trial for an

indictable offence before sentence,

the Court shall amend or altexr the

indictment so far as appears

necegssary from the evidence or other-

wise and may direct the trial to be

adjourned or recommenced from any

point if such direction appears

proper in the interest either of the

prosecution or of the accused person."
It is obvious from the language of tlie section that it
imposes a duty upon the Resident Magistrate to amend the
indictment in the tircumstances prescribed as well as a
discretion as to how to proceed thereafter. The section
{previously Section 261 of the Resident Magistrate Law
Chapteyr 432) has been judicially considered in several
cases ahd, in our opinion, these are the authorities from which
we nust seek guidance and not authorities based on a conside-
ration of the power cf amnendment contained in the Indictments
Act which allows for an amendment where the indictment is
defective. There is nc such constraint in the language cf
Section 273. We nced rot, therefore, consider cases which

were cited with refereice to the Indictments Act. Some cases

in which gection 278 vas considered are: R. v. Harris et al

(1902) §.C.J.B. Vol. 5 p. 76; R. v. McCartney (1939) 3 J.L.R.

207; R. V. HMiller et ¢l (1939) 3 J.L.R. 136; R. v. Egbert

Wilsgn {1953) 6 J.L.F., 270; R.M.C.A. Ho. 80/69 R. v. Desmond

.-

Chambers (9/5/69) unrsported.

In Harris (supra) the Supreme Court upheld the
alteration of the indictment by the addition of two counts
after some evidence hd been adduced. The judgment recognised
the difference between the Resident Magistrates' Court and

the Circuit Court when it said at page 46:
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"It may be considered that such an
amendment could not be made in the
Circuit Court, but we think it is
within s 255 of the R.M. Law, by
which a Resident Magistrate is
enpowered teo alter as well as to
amend an indictwent 'so far as
appears necessatry from the evidence
or otherwise ....'. We think that
tlie power to alter includes a power
Lo prefer a new charge. The word
‘necessary’ in the expression 'so
far as appears necessary' means, in
our opinion, necessary for the pur-
pose of trying the defendant upon
any charge or charges which, upon
the facts, can properly be preferred
against him.

In some cases it might be highly
improper to alter the indictment
without commencing the proceedings
de novo. But the evidence here
given prior to the alteration or
areendnent was the same as it would
have been if the original indict-
ment had included the chiarges
subseguently added. No possible
injustice to the accused was there=
fore caused by tle coursc pursued ..."

lcCartney (supra) followed Harris (supra) and confirmed that
thie power to amend conferred by the section (281l) includes
a power to prefer a new charge. Miller (supra) also followed

liarris {(supra). Egbert Wilson (supra) updated the position

when Carberry, J. at page 270, dealing with section 281,

stated:

"it has been held by this Court that
this section imposes a duty on a
Resident Magistrate to amend by
adding counts where the evidence
malies it necessary to do so -

R. v. Miller and others 3 J.L.R.
13b; R, v. Liarris ané others

1 £tephens 45. it was neld in

R. v. McCartney 3 J.L.R. 207 that
the power to amend includes the
addition of an alternative Count."

Desmond Chambers (supra), without referring to any of these
authorities, nonetheless applied the principles supported
Ly them. The judgment delivered by Waddington, P. (Ag.)

o
considered and dictinguished the case of E. v. Robert Hughes
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20 C.A.R. 4, which had been cited. Lord Hewart, the Lord

Chief Justice giving the judgment in R. v. Robert Hughes

(supra), pcinted out that the amendment:

"was not correcting a defect in
che indictment, it was altering
its substance in circumstances
in which as it appears to us;
the defendant was prejudiced by
the alteration.”

0f that case Waddington, P. (Ag.) had this to say:

"It appears f[rom that case that
had the evidence been different,
that is to say, had the evidence
in the case supported the allega-~
tion in respect of which the
amendment was made, that might
have altered the position and

the Court in that case might

have been satisfied that the
amendment was properly made.

in the instant case the Court is
satisfied on the evidence that
there was a false pretence by
ithe appellant to both Hargreaves
and Myers cof an existing fact.”

In the two counts charging obtaining money by false pretences
the false pretences as framed in the indictment refeired
to a future event i.e. that the accused "would" obtain tyres
for both complainants whereas the evidence established that
he had represented that he was then able - a present existing
fact - to obtain the Lyres.
Disposing of the point raised the Court held:

"Ii is our view that had this

point been roised in the Court

below, the learned Resident

Magistrate would have been

Jjustified in exercising his

powers of amendment, in amending

“the indictment to make it con-

form with the false pretences.
which the evidence supported.

The Court is satisfied that no
injustice has been caused to the
appellant in this case.”
[Emphasis supplied] ' ‘

Cuite understandably, the Crown relics on these cases in

support of the amendments.
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On the other hand, Mr. Phipps submitted that despite
the power to amend at any stage before sentence the amendment
should nct have been made in that it changes the false pretences
initially relied on, although .there was some evidence of
the false pretences introduced by the amendment. That sort
of amendment, he submiited, ought not to be made at all.

He would rather rely on English decisions to support his
contenticn but, in our'view, those decisions are singularly
unhelpful because they are based on the Indictments Act,
whereas amepdments in the Resident Magistrates' Court are
governed by the Special Provisions in the Judicature

(Resident Magistrates) Act. Indeed, there is a special system
in the Act foir dealing with indiciments in the Resident
Magistrates' Court which is peculiar tc the Acu. See Sections
272, 273, 274, 275, 27¢, 27&, 1iIn Harris (supra) it was recog-
nised that the amendment, which was being approved, could

not be made in a Circuit Court. It is clear, therefore,

that the amendments are good if they do no more than "make

thie indictment conform tc the false pretences which the
gvidence supports”.

in considering the amendments as they affect
llazel Crant, we remind ourselves that Mr. Phipps conceded
that, as regaxrds this appellant, "he does not complain about
the adequacy of the evidence against her®, The guestion,
therefore, is this: Does that evidence support the‘false
pretences alleged in the amendments? Mr. Phipps complained
that having regard to the falsge pietences originally alleged
in the indictment the appellants could not have contenmplated,
and so set out Lo meet, che false pretences introduced by
the amendments and, accuidingly, such amendments without a

.«
recormencement of the prosecucion case to allow the appellanis

to neet the new allegations was Lo the prejudice of the
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of the appellants and worked an injustice against them.
From the very outset in opening the prosecution
case Ms. Pancry is recorded as having stated that the prose~
* cution proposed to prove thac Hazel Grant, gs Loans Officer,
prepared tweniy~five loan applications on behalf of fictiticous
borrowers and chat in consequence of these applications cercain

Managex's Cheques were caused to be prepared 4nd signed by

certain authorized persons and the said Hazel srant and that
some of these chegues were thereafter cashed by Hazel Grant
at the Bany und others paiu for encashment elsewhere. Further,
stated Mr. Pantry, Eldon Grant obtained certain of those

\@
cheques which he used to have money paid over for tne use
and benefil of himself. In response to Mr. Phipps' requestc
for gpecifics My, Pantry said that *the false pretence was
by the presenting of fictitious documents to other persons
i.e. officers of tie bank purporting thai they were for
genuine banking transactions”. We think that had he consi-
dered well uhe draft indiciment, which was in Court, he

N would; in the light of bis opening, reccgnize the need o
amend the diaft cvhen and there. Vthat is mose, Mr. Small
is recovded in the Hotes of Evidence as disclosing that copies
of che documents, on which che prosecucion would be felying,
nad been sent to defence Counsel long in advance of the

trial dace.

ameny the dactionary meanings of Yfictitious" ave

the following - “counterfeic, false, not genuine”. in our
(! vpinion, a docuweni is oqually fictitious whether it is made

in the nawe of a real person who did not in fact make or
authorize its making or 1f it is made in a name just plucked
from the air,

The evidence indicating that the banking transadtions

imvolved in the cwenty-five loan applicaltions from which




4 e s D A i AL I SV

PR ]

~-Gg -

sprang the other elements of the charyes are not genuine
is overwvhelninyg. in brief summary, certain important

1nulcaters are:

L. Uot even one of the twenty-five
"borrowers"” could be located 1in
the areas given in the applica-
rrons. deither by the Police
ner Hy che bank offitcer accus-
tomed to tracking down delinquent
¢lients could any trace of thewr
existence in those areas be
ebtained and that is so alithough
the application forms are geplete
witlhh references.

38

. ULE the wwenty-two mocer veiicles

on which tihe bank’s money was
1‘ supposed to have been expendod each

of which Hazel Granv testificea on

oath thac she had personally
inspecied as well as interviewed
tiie twenty-five loan applicants
not evel ohkwe could be located.

3. ‘There was the falsity of the Insurance
docuneni regarding bavid Graham
(see evidence of Veronica Lincon
and Bna Grayson).

4. The evadence concecsning the pro-
curing of the issue of the cheques
and theixy Jdisposal.

. 5. The involvement of Hazel Grant

with Pestival Car Rentals in
procuring the issue of four cilegues
with respect thercio, wo of which
{$5U,000 and $40,000) she cashed on
8/4/¢7 and 1u/4/87 just days before
her leave begyan on 13/4/87 and the
other two being used by Eldon Grant.

v. 'The evidence of the loan re-paymencs

by Hazel Grant, which she admastited,
Lhe facc that no re-paymenus were
made subseqguenc to the last payments
nade by her ana the curicus fact
that although of che twenvy-~[ive

, loans only nine bad ce-payment dates

{ - easliel than the 13th of the monilh
yet with the exception of Egexrion
Gourden, whose loan date was L.4.87
just five days pefore she went on
Ler leave all the loan payments were
nade between Apiil § - 10,

7. The guestion arising out of ihe
identaity of Edward Zalmon whose loan
appl;caxion irad been approved by
Hazel Crant.
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. Even omitting Exhibic 33 and
the admissions alleged o have
been made in r. Ryan’s office
on 30/5/37 the evidence of her
subsequent conduct in deciding
to treat these loans as her
personal responsibility and
seeking specific information
ubout each in order that arrange-
ments could be made to re-pay them;
the inguiry of what would be
acceptable as a deposit; under-
taking to be given by her attorney
to pay off the accounts; the
unlimited guarantee given by her
husband to cover the total amount
outstanding.

Y. The undisputéed evidence that Eldcn

Grant had indeea obtained possession

of, and had used to his own benefit,

two of the largest of the chegues

in question ($171,341.24 and $70,000)

for which he had offered no expla-

tion - cheques which Hazel Grant

was instrumentcal in creating puisuanu

to what were challenged as fictitious

loans.,
And these aie but some of the very telling aspects of the
evidence. Indeed, we arce of the opinion that, faced with
such evidence, iue learned Resident Magistrete had abundant
justification in having the indictment amended. Accordingyly,
we see no reason to inteirfere with the exercise of his dis-
rYacuvion i gianiing the amendment.

Un the guestion as to whether,having ordered the
amendment, the learned Hesident Magistcate should also have
direcced that the prousecucion case be re-opened we answer
in the negative. The caseg had occupied fifteen trial days
during which the prosecution witnesses were thoroughly cross-
exawmined to meet the thrust of the case as had been outlined
and along which lines the evidence had been piesented. There
is no indication that the prosecuticn case would be otherwise
than it stood at that point. Accordingly, had the case been

re-opened ithe prosecucion could only lead the same evidence.

Ve are fiomly of the view thut no itujustice was done to
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eicher of the appellants. Hazel Grant, with £ull apprecia-
tion of che prosecution case, had set out valianily to meeu
that case, Lldon Grant, despite the evidence of his involve-
ament wich the two chegues, had chosen to remain silent.
Yhe amendient did not create a new situation by which the
appellants could say chey were taken by suw.prise. guite
apart from the fact vhat Mus. Grant's defence shows that
she undexgtoud the ch; ces she had co meet, FHr. Phipps?
no-case subnissicn amply demonsirates that underscanding.
sald he:

"Ho case to answes in cespect of
both accu*ed Factual basis of
prosecution’s case was that

tics. Grant had prepared applica-
ilons for non-existent borrowers.
Host important ingredient of
progsecuiion is the existence or
non-existence of the borrowers.
Tf there is a failure to prove
that element means tanac the
necessary ingredient oif each and
every count not established. No
dispute ac this stage that

Hrs. Giranc dealy with Scotia Plan
fpplications and that she in some
instcances had tellers paying over
cash n exchange ioL some of
chege cheguey ...

Thao submission on behalf of both appellants put
paid to sar. Phipps® submission before us to the effect that
chie appelilants had been led to believe that the allegations
related o false chegues but that the amendiment puiported
to deal with the application forms for loans. as well, he
submtcted,; that although che application forms did arise
ol tie evidence it was only four the purpose'of the falsity
vf the cheques. Accordingly, so he submivived, the defence
vughic to have been allowed to deal with false pietences
reluiting to the applicacion forms and as to Eldon drant that
he should have been allewed to deal witn the Counis to whicil

he was adued by the amendment. iow can such contencion be
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maintained in the face of the evidence given on opath by
Hazel Grant rejecting the falsity of the loan applications?
According to her she personally saw and interviewed every
one of those twenty-five applicants and attended to all the
requirements for a genuine loan.

Clearly, therefore, no prejudice resulted to either
appellant in the course adopted by the learned Resident
Magistrate. No new charge was presented in the sense that
evidence would be required to establish such charges. The
amendments only fitted the indictment to the evidence before
the Court. Eldon Grant, before as well as after the amend-
ments, apart from the charges of forgery with which we are
not here concerned, was charged with offences relating to
the two cheques which he had undoubtedly obtained and used
to his own benefit.

Among the findings of fact by the learned Resident
Magistrate are the following.

“26. Accused Eldon Grant received
Exhibit 7B and 14A from
accused Hazel Grant.

27. Both accused were acting
together to create and use
Cheques Exhibit 7B and 14A
each knowing that the pretence
then was that a loan appli-
cation for each was false.

The answer of Hazel Grant is that she never knew of Eldon
Grant's involvement with Festival Car Rentals Limited until

she heard the evidence in Court. Eidon is silent. Mr. Phipps
submitted that there are no primary facts from which the
incriminating inference can be drawn. Consider, therefore,

this amazing concatenation of events. The first mention of

the name Festival Car Rentals Limited was by Mrs. Janet Young,
who said that in August 1986, when Eldon Grant came and booked
the ten cars, he told her he was forming a company in whose
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name the cars would be purchased. Later he advised her

that the name of the company was Festival Car Rentals Limited
and requested a Debit Note for four of the cars in that name.
The Debit Note was duly issued for the sum of $171,000 and
Eldon Grant collected it and thereafter on 1% October, 1986
he presented cheque no. 0347569 for $171,341.24 (Exhibit
14A) in full payment for the cars. That cheque is by now
familiar from frequent references but for emphasis we repeat
its particulars. Bearing date 30.9.86, just the day before

it was presented to Mrs. Janet Young at Motor Sales and
Services, it is payable to Motor Sales and Services alc
Festival Car Rentals and the evidence shows that Hazel Grant
procured its issuance. But as we have indicated previously,
Festival Car Rentals had no loan account with the bank.

How then did Hazel Grant manage to procure the creation of
this cheque. It purports to emanate from the application

of Anthony Harvey t/as Festival Car Rentals. But on

30™ September, 1986 when such a representation was made
on the application Festival Car Rentals Limited had been

a legal entity for twenty-seven days having been incorporated
on 3" September, 1986. And concerning Anthony Harvey,

Mr. McKoy, one of the two directors of Festival Car Rentals
Limited, said “that name never came up”. Obviously meaning
that Anthony Harvey was a stranger to the company. It has
been abundantly demonstrated on the evidence that this appli-
cation prepared by Hazel Grant in the name of Anthony Harvey
was not genuine. No such person could be located. But the
very day after the application came into being, resulting

in the cheque being created, Eldon Grant was making use of
the cheque. It could not have reached his hands through
Anthony Harvey. Apart from the two persons who signed the
cheque the only other persons who have been shown to have
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dealt with that cheque are the two appellants. As @ legal

entity conducting its affairs above-board, the company would
- have no need co adopt such a devious method of securing a
loar. ®#ldon Grant i1s not a director of the company yet he
158 che one conducting the business of the company and on the
strength of this irregularity obtained the cheque. Inasmuch,
thereforse, as Eldun Grant presented that chegue in satis-
faction of the Debit Hote which he had ieqguested the only

reasonable infevence, indeed, the irresistible inference must

-

be that the obtaining of the Delit Hete and the procuving .

‘;’ of the cheque are part of a single ertecprise involving both
appellants.,

The cheque, Exihibit 7B, for §70,000, which BEldon

Grant lodged to Mo, MceKoy's Clients’ Acpount, was issued
long in advance of thie incorporation of Festival Car Rentals
Limiteed. Lo is dated 15.7.60 and was signed by both bMMr. Ryan
and Hazel Grant in favour of Arther Valeatine in pursuance
o the loan application of Sylvester Graham which applica-

(‘ tion has been shown co be not genuane. Agadil; the only persons

vas
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who are shewn to have dealt with this chegue afic:
sighued are dazel Urant and Eldon Grant. e are confidently
of ithe view that the inference drawn by the learned Resident
Magistrawe, chat the appellants acted tugethers in relation
to these two chegues, 15 boch peasorable and inescupable.
It is true that Elcon did noc personally make any represen-
tation to any officer'of the bank but he need not becausec
chat was done on his behalf by Hazel in their joint enterprise
to defraud the bank.

Fuither evidence of davicusness on the part of
lazel Granv, with seference to Fegtival Car Rentals Linited,

5 supploed by Exhibits 28A and 29A. Exhibit <6A, cheque

no. L&350U¢, for $4u,.u00 bears date 10.4.87 the payee being

ot
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Festival Car Renwuls afc R. bulley and Exhibic 25A dated
G.4.87 is cheque no. (4554%2 for the anount of $5¢,00U
payable to Festival Car Renial a/c Edgar Owmith. Both cheques
vere encashed by ilazel Grant and neither of the wlleyed
horrowerss has been shown to exist. Vhy should she be cashing
cheques payable to a company in which her husband has
majority shareholdings even when she knew nothing of her
husband's iuvolvement with the company and in a cituation
in which no relationship beiwecn herself and any of the
alleged borrowers has even becen hinced aty

But there 1s alsc another very percinent question
that clamours for an answer and 1t is this. lazel Grant makes
heirself to be a strander to her husband’®s involvenment in
Festival Car Rentals Limited, <hy then sheould she assume
personal responsibility for the {wo cheques which are shown
Lo have been used by her husband for the benciit of the
company’s  Then, too;, what was ney connection with Festival
Cac Rentals which would enable her to encash the two cheques
which she had prepareu in the comrpany's naie, and what noble
lmpulse motivaced hier Lo accept iiability for chose two
chegyuas? How, tihen; could her evicence of lack of knowledge
oi Eldan's involvement with the cempany be crue?  And since
her evidence rnusit be a lie, why did she lie? 7The answver
s ovbvicusly a desperate endeavour to conceal theiy joint
elliterprisa. : :

We have deliberavely deferred dealing with the
complaint relacing to the admissions, both orul and written,
witich werc nwude in‘hxq Ryan's office. The complaint 1s that,
in che circumscances in which Bxhiaibit 33 and the endorsenient
on the Promissory Wotes were written and the oral statewents
tiade, the prosecuticn has failed to show chat they were

voluntary. Disgualifying factois veferred to are that
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Hazeli Grant was sequestcergd in Mr. Ryan's office for some
five hours with peisons in authority, was not allowed to
see her husband and wap subjected to oppression. Although
we Jdo not agree that Mr. Ryan's atiempt to call the Police
way any evidence of ppprescion we nonetheless have some
reservabion about the circumstances in which those admissions

were Kade. Mr. Holman is alleyged to have shown much hosti-

licy to the appellapt, who was the junior officer among those
present, and inésmuch as he was not available to allow his
conduct to be examined by the Court the taint of oppression
remains and we gonclude that the impuyned evidence ought

not to have bden aduitted. ileverstheless, we entertain no
doubi whaisoever that there is overwhelming evidence,
unaifecied by the eyidence now omitted; that the charges
have been satisfactorily proved and that each appellant had
a fair heaving. Ve are also of the view that the impugned

evidence did pot turn the scales against the appellant.

See R. v. Parker #5 C,A.R. 1. Accordingly, pursuant to
section 305{3) of the Judicature (Resident Magistrates) Act
alihiough tpe point raised az to the admigsibility of these
admissions has been decided in favour of the uppellant we
are mponetheless of the vpinion that no substantialmiscaxriage of
justice nas acthally occurred and so we dismiss che appeal
on thav point. With the exceptioun, theretore, of the
complaint against e admission of these adwissions, we
find that ﬁhe.grounGQ of appeal are without wmerit.

The appeals are accordingly diszmissed and the
convicrions and sencences affirmed.

o subuissionps were addressed to us on the sentences
although Hazel Grant included, among her grounds, a ground
that the sentence is nahifestly excessive. ‘The villainy

discissed in the evidenca by a person iy such & poSition
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of crust belrsays ¢reat ingenuily Lox walch she has

mistakenly spplauded and rewarced. he sentence is

any way ewcessive let alone being nanifestly s0.
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The centencss Wwill comaence from the Luoth
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